## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-164 L.T. Case No.: 3D08-1461

# ERICA LYNN COREY,

Petitioner,

v.

# MICHAEL JAMES COREY,

Respondent.

On Discretionary Review from The District Court of Appeal, Third District of Florida

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Roger J. Schindler Esq.
Anthony V. Falzon Esq.
Simon, Schindler & Sandberg LLP
2650 Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, FL 33137
Tel. (205) 576 1200

Tel: (305) 576 1300 Fax: (305) 576 1331

E-Mail: afalzon@miami-law.net

Counsel for Petitioner

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, Petitioner Erica Lynn Corey will be referred to by name or as "the Mother", and Respondent Michael James Corey will be referred to by name or as "the Father". The Record on Appeal for the proceedings in the Third District Court of Appeals will be referred to as "R", followed by the volume number ("Vol") and page number ("p") of the Record. The Appendix filed with this Initial Brief will be referred to as "App.", followed by the page number ("p").

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The central issue presented for resolution by this court involves the interpretation of Fla. Stat. 61.121 enacted in 1997 and repealed in 2008. Fla. Stat. 61.121 read as follows:

"The court may order rotating custody if the court finds that rotating custody will be in the best interest of the child."

The First, Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have held that Fla. Stat. 61.121 simply codified the existing common law in Florida that a court has the option of ordering rotating custody. These three District Courts of Appeal found, however, that Fla. Stat. 61.121 did not repeal the common law presumption against a trial court awarding rotating custody in the absence of a showing of exceptional circumstances justifying such an award. The Third District Court of Appeals has held the opposite in

the case at bar, reasoning that the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 implicitly repealed the presumption against a trial court awarding rotating custody. The interpretation of a statute is a purely legal matter and therefore is subject to the *de novo* standard of review in this court. *Kasischke v. State of Florida*, 991 So.2d 803, 807 (Fla. 2008).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## - The trial court proceedings.

Erica and Michael Corey were married in August, 2000. Their son, Ethan Corey, was born on January 11, 2001. R. Vol. IV p.4; Vol II, p.247. Erica, Michael and Ethan lived in Michael's parents' home until January of 2002 when they moved to Gainesville, Florida and enrolled as full-time students at the University of Florida. R. Vol. IV, p.6; Vol. VI, p.54.

Michael graduated from the University of Florida undergraduate program in December of 2003 and began law school in January, 2004. R. Vol. VI, p.3; R. Vol. VI, p. 55. Erica graduated in April of 2004. R. Vol. VI, p.3. The couple were experiencing marital problems by the time Erica graduated. R. Vol. IV, pp. 9-10. After graduating, Erica sought work as a teacher. In about July of 2004, Erica learned that the teaching job she had secured fell through due to budget cuts in the Alachua County School System. R. Vol. IV, p.9. By this time the marriage had irretrievably broken down and Erica left Gainesville with three year old Ethan and moved in with her

parents on Key Biscayne. R. Vol. IV, pp. 9, 17. Michael continued his law school studies in Gainesville.

Back in Miami-Dade County, Erica secured a teaching position at the Centennial Middle School in South Miami. R. Vol. IV, pp.21-22. Erica enrolled Ethan in a pre-kindergarten program at the Hamel School in Miami in September, 2004. R. Vol. V, pp. 81-82; R. Vol. IV. pp. 22-25, 100. Erica filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage in December, 2004. R. Vol. I, pp. 2-4. Michael filed an Answer and Counterclaim in April, 2005. R. Vol. I, pp. 11-14. Erica and Michael both requested that they be designated the primary residential parent. Michael requested in the alternative that the Court order rotating custody. At trial Michael changed his position asking the court to award rotating custody, and designate him as primary residential parent only in the alternative. R. Vol. VII, pp. 47-48; Vol. V, pp. 13-15.

In July of 2005 Michael moved to South Miami and rented an apartment near the Hamel School. R. Vol. IV, pp. 23-24. In the fall of 2005 Michael began attending law school at Florida International University School of Law in South Miami-Dade County. R. Vol. IV, pp. 18-21. During the time that Michael attended law school he had no gainful employment while Erica worked as a teacher in South Miami. During the period 2004 through 2007 Michael failed to pay Erica any support for Ethan. R. Vol. IV. p. 36. Nor did the Father pay for health or dental insurance for his son. R.

Vol. IV. p. 35; 43-44; Vol. V. p. 86, 91. Michael also failed to contribute toward Ethan's tuition fees at the Hamel School. R. Vol. VI. p. 37; Vol. V. p. 81.

Beginning in November, 2005 Michael imposed an informal rotating custody schedule on Erica. R. Vol. V. p. 43-45; R. Vol. V. p. 43. The rotating custody schedule worked for the two year period that it took Michael to complete law school because Erica was employed as a full time teacher while Michael had classes in the morning and had his afternoons free. R. Vol. V. p. 48.

In the fall of 2006, Erica sought to enroll Ethan in elementary school in Key Biscayne, Florida. Erica had moved to Key Biscayne and had obtained a teaching job at Key Biscayne Elementary School. R. Vol. V. Pp. 52-53; 57; 117; R. Vol. IV. Pp. 26, 46; Vol. V. p. 47. Michael strenuously objected preferring to have his six year old son travel to and from South Miami to attend school close to where Michael lived. R. Vol. IV. p. 31; Vol. V. p. 55. The General Magistrate refused to make the six year old travel three hours a day to school in South Miami and ordered that the child attend

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>At trial Erica testified that:

Q: Before that, September or October, November, maybe December, what was the schedule for Michael seeing his son?

A: We had begun with the alternating weekends, and then I don't remember exactly what it was, but he just decided that, you know, he was going to pick Ethan up and he was going to keep Ethan for a week. And I definitely opposed that, but there was absolutely nothing I could do about that because I was working full-time and could not. He would just go and pick Ethan up before I got there.

elementary school on Key Biscayne where Erica worked. As soon as the General Magistrate made this ruling, Michael immediately moved to Key Biscayne even although he had testified at the hearing before the General Magistrate that he was bound by a lease on a home in South Miami and that he could not afford to move to Key Biscayne. R. Vol. IV p. 31; Vol. V p. 61; 126.

At the time of trial in 2007, Michael had graduated law school and had taken a job as a prosecutor with the Miami-Dade County State Attorney's Office. Erica continued to work as a teacher at Key Biscayne Elementary School. Michael faced an uphill battle at trial trying to convince the presiding judge that special circumstances existed to justify the imposition of a rotating custody arrangement. The trial judge was particularly concerned about which parent was best placed to care for young Ethan immediately after he was let out of elementary school in the early afternoon. Erica, would finish her job as a teacher at Key Biscayne Elementary School at the same time as Ethan was let out of school. Michael, on the other hand, was a busy young prosecutor and was clearly not available to pick up young Ethan when he was let out of school.

At trial, Michael tried to convince the trial judge, who spent many years presiding over trials in the Criminal Division, that as an entry level prosecutor he would always be available to pick up his son from after school care on Key Biscayne at

5:30 p.m. even if he was trying a case before a jury in downtown Miami or one of the satellite courthouses scattered throughout Miami-Dade County. Michael also testified that he would prefer Ethan to attend summer camp every other week rather than being with Erica, who as a Miami-Dade County school teacher, does not have to work over the summer months. R. Vol. IV. p. 119; Vol. V. p. 72. Furthermore, Michael initially took the position that he would prefer his son to stay in after school care rather than with Erica during his rotating week in the event that the court agreed to a rotating custody schedule. R. Vol. V. p.66. Furthermore, Michael wanted unidentified neighbors to pick up Ethan from after school care if he had to work late during his week rather than have Erica pick up her son. R. Vol. V. p. 68.

The trial court's final judgment of dissolution incorporating the Child Time Sharing and Parental Responsibility Order entered on February 25, 2008 awarded primary residential custody of the child to Erica and entered an expanded Time Sharing Order providing Michael with timesharing every other weekend from Thursday after school to Monday morning and on Thursday overnight during the week when Michael does not have weekend timesharing. The trial court denied Michael's request that the court enter an order establishing a rotating custody schedule. While the trial court acknowledged that it clearly had the power to order rotating custody it found that Michael has failed to show that exceptional circumstances existed which overcame the

long standing presumption that rotating custody was not in the minor child's best interests. R. Vol. II, pp. 246-258; R. Vol. II, pp. 259-274.

The court's final judgment awarding primary residential custody of Ethan to Erica made various findings in support of its ruling based on the factors listed in Fla. Stat. 61.3(3). R. Vol. II. p. 250-255. The court listed ten factors that it found did not favor either one of the parents. See paras 2(a),(b),(c),(e),(f),(g),(h),(i),(k) and (l) of Final Judgment. R. Vol. II. p. 250-255. The final judgment listed absolutely no factors which favored Michael and then listed two factors that favored Erica. See paras 2(d) and (m). Among other findings of fact, the court found that:

- (1) there was competent substantial evidence that living in the same household would be in the child's best interests and would provide the continuity and residential stability which [Ethan] needs. The Court finds that greater stability and continuity would result from the Wife being the primary residential parent. R. Vol. II. p. 256.
- (2) the Wife, unlike the Husband, would never have problems picking Ethan up from after school care and that the Wife "would *always* be able to take the child home on a timely basis and not need to rely on the help of others". R.Vol. II p. 259.
- (3) the "child is beginning to participate in extracurricular activities on at least 2 day/week which ends at 4:30 p.m., a time which the Husband would rarely or never be available to pick him up, again requiring him to rely on neighbors, family or the Wife." R. Vol. II. p. 259.

Based on these findings the court concluded that Erica should be designated as

primary residential parent, noting that her availability after-school was a significant factor. The court also pointed out that while both parents had an extensive extended family support network, Michael's family resided in Kendall (South Miami-Dade County) while Erica's family resided on Key Biscayne close to Ethan's school. R. Vol. II p. 260.

# - The appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal.

Michael filed an appeal from the Final Judgment with the Third District Court of Appeal arguing that the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 in 1997 had implicitly repealed the long standing presumption that rotating custody was not in a child's best interests. Michael reasoned that the Trial Court had erred when it required him to show that exceptional circumstances existed in order to overcome the presumption that rotating custody is not in the best interest of the minor child.

Erica argued that the 1997 enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 simply codified the then existing case law which allowed a trial judge to enter an award of rotating custody but did nothing to repeal the common law presumption against an award of rotating custody. Erica referred to the decision of the Second District in *Mandell v. Mandell*, 741 So.2d 617 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999) in which the Second District Court of Appeals found that the common law presumption against awarding rotating custody absent a showing of exceptional circumstances had survived the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121.

The *Mandell* court reasoned that had the legislature wished to repeal the long standing common law presumption it would have done so explicitly. As support for this proposition, the *Mandell* court referred to House Bill 1421, which while enacting Fla. Stat. 61.121, also amended Fla. Stat. 61.13 to repeal the rebuttable presumption established by this court in *Mize v. Mize*, 621 So.2d 417, 420 (Fla. 1993) and *Russenberger v. Russenberger*, 669 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1996)in favor of allowing a custodial parent to relocate upon a demonstration that the relocation was being made in good faith.

# - The decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.

The Third District's draft opinion was originally authored by Schwartz, Senior Judge and found in favor of Erica holding that the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 had not implicitly repealed the presumption against the award of rotating custody. After the court's draft opinion was finalized, the remaining two members of the panel disagreed with Judge Schwartz's reasoning and a majority opinion was authored by Lagoa J finding in favor of Michael with Judge Schwartz filing the court's original draft opinion as a dissenting opinion.

Judge Lagoa's majority opinion begins by recognizing that prior to the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 in 1997, case law in all five districts established that rotating custody was presumptively disfavored. The majority goes on to recognize that

even subsequent to the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 courts continued to apply the presumption against rotating custody. The majority goes on to explain that it could not reach the same conclusion as the other District Courts of Appeal that had found that the presumption survived the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121.<sup>2</sup> The majority explains that its decision is based on "the plain language of the statute". The majority reasoned that Fla. Stat. 61.121 had the effect of putting rotating custody on the same level playing field as other types of custody arrangements which simply require the court to look out for the best interests of the child. Without citing to any authority, the majority reasoned that "if the Legislature [had] intended to continue the long standing presumption against rotating custody, it would have stated so in the statute" essentially arguing that the presumption against rotating custody had been repealed *sub silentio*. The majority opinion fails to make any reference to or explain the inherent contradiction between its reading of Fla. Stat. 61.121 and the Legislature's actions in amending Fla. Stat. 61.13 to explicitly repeal a presumption in favor of allowing a custodial parent to relocate if acting in good faith. The majority's analysis ends there

<sup>2</sup> 

In fact the majority glosses over the fact that the Third District Court of Appeal in *Bazan v. Gambone*, 924 So.2d 952, 956 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006) had already noted that a joint custody agreement is generally disfavored when making an initial custody determination. The *Bazan* opinion deals with the issue of rotating custody after the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 in 1997.

on the presumption issue.

In his dissent, Judge Schwartz refers to the various District Court opinions entered after 1997 recognizing that the presumption against rotating custody had survived the enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121. Cooper v. Gress, 854 So.2d 262, 266 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003)(Nothing in the plain statutory language of Fla. Stat. 61.121 indicates that the Florida legislature intended to eliminate the longstanding presumption that rotating custody is not in a minor child's best interests): Mandell v. Mandell, 741 So.2d 617, 618 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1999)(If, by this language, the legislature sought to set aside the presumption against rotating custody, it failed. Nothing in the plain language of the statute suggests that the legislature intended to abolish the presumption); Bazan v. Gambone, 924 So.2d 952, 956 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2006)(a joint custody agreement is generally disfavored when considering initial custody arrangement); Mancuso v. Mancuso, 789 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(holding that presumption required trial court to consider factors which may overcome the presumption); Hosein v. Hosein, 758 So.2d 703 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001)(same) and Chapman v. Prevatt, 845 So.2d 976 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003)(Nothing in Fla. Stat. 61.121 detracts from the long-standing presumption frowning upon a rotating custody arrangement).

Judge Schwartz refers in particular to the Second District decision in *Mandell* in which the District Court compared Fla. Stat. 61.121 to Fla. Stat. 61.13 which explicitly

set aside the presumption in favor of allowing a good faith custodial parent to relocate. Judge Schwartz reproduces the central holding of *Mandell verbatim*. In *Mandell* the Second District referred to the plain language of Fla. Stat. 61.13 to argue that the legislature understood how to set aside a previously established presumption and concluding that "The absence of such language in Fla. Stat. 61.121 leads us to conclude that either the legislature did not intend to set aside the presumption, or, if it did, it failed to appropriately implement its intent".

# - The Supreme Court proceedings.

Erica filed a timely Notice invoking the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this court on January 22, 2010 claiming that the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal rendered December 30, 2009 expressly and directly conflicts with the decisions of the First, Second and Fourth District Courts of Appeal discussed above. The Supreme Court was fulled briefed on jurisdiction on May 19, 2010 and the court accepted jurisdiction on June 10, 2010 while also entering an order staying proceedings in the Third District Court of Appeal and in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida pending disposition of the pending petition.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

A plain reading of Fla. Stat. 61.121, the legislative history of the statutory enactment showing that Fla. Stat. 61.121 simply codified existing law on rotating

custody and principles of statutory construction all support the view that the 1997 enactment of Fla. Stat. 61.121 simply codified the then existing case law which allowed a trial judge to enter an award of rotating custody but did nothing to repeal the common law presumption against an award of rotating custody.

Furthermore the trial court did not err when it found that Michael had failed to show exceptional circumstances justifying an award of rotating custody as being in Ethan's best interests.

## **ARGUMENT**

I.

THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF FLA. STAT. 61.121, THE LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF HB 1421 WHICH ENACTED FLA. STAT. 61.121 AND PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION ALL SUPPORT THE VIEW THAT FLA. STAT. 61.121 DID NOT IMPLICITLY REPEAL THE COMMON LAW PRESUMPTION AGAINST AN AWARD OF ROTATING CUSTODY

"The interpretation of a statute is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to the *de novo* standard of review." *Kephart v.Hadi*, 932 So.2d 1086, 1089 (Fla. 2006), *cert. denied*, 549 U.S. 1216, 127 S.Ct. 1268, 167 L.Ed.2d 92 (2007). When construing a statute, a court strives to effectuate the Legislature's intent. *Kasischke v. State of Florida*, 991 So.2d 803, 807 (Fla. 2008). To determine that intent, a court will first look at the statute's plain language. If the statute's language is not clear or if the

language is ambiguous then a court must look behind the plain language of the statute for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent. Borden v. East European Ins., Co., 921 So.2d 587, 595 (Fla. 2006).

Prior to the decision of the majority of the Third District Court of Appeal in *Corey v. Corey*, 29 So.3d 315 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) it was undisputed and settled law in Florida that rotating custody orders, such as the one requested by Michael in the trial court below, were strongly disfavored and ordinarily could not be sustained. *Hurst v. Hurst*, 27 So.2d 749 (Fla. 1946). Florida courts in all five districts have consistently held that although rotating custody is presumptively not in the best interest of children, there may be special circumstances which justify rotating the physical residence of a child. *Wilking v. Reiford*, 582 So.2d 717 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1991).

## Such circumstances include:

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