SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER SC10-164 Lower Court Case Numbers: 3D08-1461; 06-10610 FC 16

ERICA LYNN COREY,

Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL JAMES COREY,

Respondent.

On Petition for Discretionary Review from the District Court of Appeal, Third District

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kathy M. Klock, Esquire
June G. Hoffman, Esquire
Greg A. Lewen, Esquire
FOWLER WHITE BURNETT P.A.
Attorneys for Respondent Michael James Corey
901 Phillips Point West
777 South Flagler Drive
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
Telephone: (561) 472-2326

Facsimile: (561) 802-9976

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

Respectfully, the Florida Legislature would not have adopted Section 61.121 unless it had intended to *add* rotating custody to the existing timesharing arrangements a court is permitted to order. In the absence of statutory authority for a court to order rotating custody, the case law "allowed" rotating custody but, because it was not authorized by Chapter 61 as a permissible timesharing arrangement, the courts applied a presumption that it is not in the best interest of the child and required a party seeking rotating custody to overcome the presumption.

Contrary to the *Mandell* court's view that the legislative history on Section 61.121 offers little insight, House Bill 1421 reflects the Legislature's awareness of the void regarding rotating custody in the statutory authority given to courts in ordering timesharing arrangements and its intent to authorize rotating custody if

the court finds that rotating custody is in the best interest of the child: "Although courts have allowed rotating custody in Florida, this practice is not presently statutorily recognized." House of Representatives Committee on Family Law and Children Bill Research and Economic Impact Statement, April 18, 1997, p. 42, subsection c (App. p. 42). The report explains that "[t]he bill also creates s. 61.121 to provide that the court may order rotating custody if the court finds that rotating custody will be in the best interest of the child." Id. at 40. The report also expresses that the bill was intended to promote the public policy of the State of Florida to ensure that children have "frequent and continuing contact with both parents after the parents separate or the marriage of the parents is dissolved" and ensuring that both parents are available to spend quality time with their children. Id.

Once the Florida Legislature enacted a statute that recognized rotating custody as a permissible timesharing arrangement for children of separated or divorced parents, the rationale for the presumption (the absence of authority to order rotating custody) was eliminated and rotating custody orders became subject to the same standard as the other timesharing arrangements that were statutorily authorized. As this Court has held, "when the reason for any rule of law ceases, the rule should be discarded." *Ripley v. Ewell*, 61 So. 2d 420 (Fla. 1952).

The Legislature's intent to put rotating custody on the same footing as other

timesharing arrangements a court is statutorily authorized to order could not be more clear. In enacting Section 61.121, the Legislature specifically recognized rotating custody as a timesharing arrangement a court was authorized to order, and established the standard for determining rotating custody to be whether it is in the best interest of the child. The Statute does not state that in determining the best interest of the child, the court is required to apply a presumption that rotating custody is *not* in the best interest of the child, and require a party (or both parties) seeking it to overcome such a presumption. Such an interpretation defies common logic and the Legislature's plain intent. It is also contrary to this Court's reasoning in the *Ripley v. Ewell* case:

The statute preserves the common law only in those cases where it is 'not inconsistent' with the acts of the Legislature. It is not necessary that a statute be in direct *conflict* with the common law before the latter may be superseded, inconsistency being sufficient.

Ripley v. Ewell, 61 So. 2d at 421 (emphasis original).

Indeed, the presumption serves no purpose after Section 61.121 became law in Florida because once rotating custody was recognized by statutory law, the judicial rationale that gave rise to it no longer existed. After Section 61.121 became law, Florida courts were authorized to order timesharing arrangements the court finds to be in the best interest of the child in each case, which may be rotating custody under Section 61.121 if the court finds that rotating custody will be in the best interest of the child, or the designation of a primary residential parent

under Section 61.13(3) if the court finds that that timesharing arrangement is in the best interest of the minor child.

The Mother's argument that Section 61.121 is subject to the judicially-created presumption against rotating custody that is not even remotely mentioned in the statute and is contrary to the clear and unambiguous standard stated in the statute is simply incorrect. If the Legislature intended to "codify" the presumption against rotating custody in Section 61.121, it would have done so in plain language, and it would have established in the statute the standard of proof a party must show in order to overcome the presumption. ²¹

Petitioner's citation to *Bazan v. Gambone*, 924 So. 2d 952 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006), as authority for her argument that the presumption against rotating custody survived the enactment of Section 61.121, and her criticism of the Third District's decision below as "glossing over" that case, are misplaced. *See* Initial Brief of Petitioner pp. 10-11 and p. 10, footnote 2. *Bazan* involved a modification of an existing custody order; however, the order under review had been entered in March of 1997, *before* Section 61.121 became law in Florida in July 1997. Accordingly, *Bazan* has no application to a rotating custody order entered after the passage of Section 61.121.²²

_

²¹ The District Courts of Appeal have applied different standards a parent must prove to overcome the presumption, including "ameliorating circumstances" and "exceptional circumstances".

²² Although Section 61.121 was in effect when this action was filed in the trial

Petitioner's reliance on the dissent below is also misplaced. As an initial matter, a dissenting opinion has no precedential effect. *See Greene v. Massey*, 384 So. 2d 24, 27 (Fla. 1980); *Munnerlyn v. Wingster*, 825 So. 2d 481, 483 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). The dissenting opinion is also unpersuasive because it adopts the rationale of *Mandell v. Mandell*, *supra*, which, as discussed above, was decided based upon a misapplication of a statutory interpretation principle.

The Best Interest of the Child Standard of Section 61.121 Promotes the Public Policy of the State of Florida by Ensuring a Child's Frequent and Continuing Contact with *Both* Parents

The public policy of Florida on custody matters for minor children of separated or divorced parents is to "ensure that each minor child has frequent and continuing contact with both parents . . . and to encourage parents to share the rights and responsibilities, and joys, of childrearing." Section 61.13(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes. The Legislature has mandated that all matters relating to the custody of minor children of separated and divorced parents "shall be determined . . . in accordance with the best interest of the child" *Id*. Section 61.121 embodies this public policy by statutorily recognizing rotating custody as a permissible timesharing arrangement in cases where the court finds that rotating

court, it is no longer the law after the Legislative amendments to Florida Statute Section 61.13, were effective on November 1, 2008. Those amendments completed

revised the legislative intent on timesharing arrangements and superseded the prior statutes on the issue, including Section 61.121. Among other things, the amendments removed the terms "primary residential parent" and "secondary

residential parent."

custody will be in the best interest of the child.

By enacting a law that expressly authorized courts to order rotating custody, the Legislature gave courts the authority to effectuate the public policy of Florida based upon the individual facts and circumstances of individual cases. The absence of statutory authority to order rotating custody before Section 61.121 became the law in Florida caused courts to struggle with the concept. Courts began to "judicially recognize" it as an option, but because rotating custody was not on the "legislative menu," the courts developed a presumption against it, and allowed it only if a parent was able to "overcome a presumption" that rotating custody is not in a child's best interest (under standards that varied among the District Courts of Appeal that addressed the issue).

After Section 61.121 became law, and the Legislature added rotating custody to the "menu", Florida courts were authorized to order timesharing arrangements the court finds to be in the best interest of the child in each case, which could be rotating custody under Section 61.121 if the court finds that rotating custody will be in the best interest of the child, or the designation of a primary residential parent under Section 61.13(3) if the court finds that timesharing arrangement is in the best interest of the minor child.

The trial court's erroneous application of an invalid presumption against rotating custody resulted in a final judgment below that *changed* a long-standing,

successful rotating timesharing arrangement that was most certainly in the best interest of the child, and resulted in the designation of the Mother as the primary residential parent and the relegation of the Father to the status of "visitor." The incorrect application of a legislatively overruled presumption against rotating custody *disserved* the best interests of the child, and the result was contrary to the public policy of the State of Florida, the best interests of Ethan Corey, and the best interests of all children whose families are separated by divorce.

In practice, the presumption against rotating custody and the requirement of proving exceptional circumstances to overcome the presumption in order for a court to order a rotating timesharing arrangement actually prevents a court's meaningful ability to order a timesharing plan the court finds to be in the best interest of the child under the circumstances of each case, including the arrangements the parents themselves have operated successfully under, the adjustments they have made in their own lives in order to be able to co-parent their child, the terms of the proposed rotating schedule, and other evidence presented to the court. A "rotating custody" arrangement which involves rotating a child between cities on an annual basis (or even a monthly or weekly basis) is not comparable to the rotating schedule that Ethan had enjoyed: his parents live within a block of each other and the child maintains the same friends, extracurricular activities, and medical professionals; the weekly period coincided with Ethan's

school week and enabled him to spend a full school week and a full weekend with each of his parents on an alternating basis, which avoided disruption during Ethan's school week; the arrangement did not impact Ethan's school because the parents' homes were within walking distance of each other's homes and Ethan's school. R. Vol. VII, p. 72; Vol. II, p. 252. The practical logistics of Ethan having two homes had been worked out in Ethan's best interest - - he has similar belongings at both homes.

Despite the dramatic differences in these scenarios, both are currently subject to the same presumption, eliminating the trial court's ability to order the more natural one week rotating schedule in cases like this one when it was unquestionably in the best interest of the child. *Compare Corey v. Corey*, 29 So. 3d 315 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009) and *Chapman v. Prevatt*, 845 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

Under Florida Statute Section 61.121, the standard for awarding rotating custody is whether rotating custody is in the best interest of the child. The overwhelming evidence at the trial was Ethan thrived - - and even improved - - under the rotating custody schedule that had been in place for nearly two years at the time of the trial (and well over two years at the time the Final Judgment was entered). In virtually every way conceivable, the unrebutted evidence in the record showed that the continuation of rotating custody was best for Ethan.

It is difficult to conceive of facts that demonstrate more convincingly that rotating custody is in the best interest of a child. Rotating custody was working on all levels - - Ethan was excelling in school, thriving with both parents, enjoying the proximity to both homes, and avoiding disruption and conflict. His academic performance was perfect and his social skills were excellent. His parents agree to consistent rules and discipline. In fact, the parents' communications and coparenting improved under it. If rotating custody is not in the best interest of the child under the facts of this case, then rotating custody is not appropriate in any case in Florida.

The Legislative amendments to Florida Statute Section 61.13, effective on November 1, 2008, changed the nomenclature, and in doing so, completely revised the legislative intent on timesharing arrangements and superseded the prior statutes on the issue, including Section 61.121. By removing the terms "primary residential parent" and "secondary residential parent," the legislature completely eliminated the old concepts of "custody" and "visitation" that served as the basis for Section 61.121 and the outdated presumption against rotating custody. The old policy suggested children needed a home base, and then a second home they merely visited. New psychological research, based largely on the Attachment Theory (*i.e.*, children of different ages require different contact with each parent), lead the legislature to radically rewrite the law to ensure parenting plans would be

specifically tailored for individual families and what worked for those families, given the enumerated statutory factors that were also revised and expanded.

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE FATHER FAILED TO PROVE EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES JUSTIFYING AN AWARD OF ROTATING CUSTODY IS NOT AN ISSUE PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT IN THIS APPEAL

The sole issue on review before this Court is the conflict issue regarding the standard for rotating custody orders under Section 61.121, Florida Statutes. That issue is the only issue included in the Petitioner's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and the only issue addressed in the single argument in the Initial Brief of Petitioner.²³ Although the second paragraph of the Summary of the Argument in Petitioner's Initial Brief includes a sentence that "the trial court did not err when it found that the Father had failed to show exceptional circumstances justifying an award of rotating custody as being in Ethan's best interest," (Petitioner's Brief, p. 13), this issue is not briefed in the Initial Brief of Petitioner. The only other reference to the trial court's finding on this issue is the *incorrect* statement on page 20 of the Petitioner's Brief that the Third District "[acknowledged] that the Father failed to show exceptional circumstances justifying an award of rotating custody" followed by the Petitioner's bare conclusion that the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

-

²³ Similarly, Petitioner's statement of the Standard of Review only addresses the standard for resolving the conflict issue. It does not indicate that Petitioner seeks review of any of the trial court's findings.

The Father's appeal to the Third District included an assignment of error with respect to the trial court's application of an "exceptional circumstances" standard to overcoming the presumption against rotating custody (versus the "ameliorating circumstances" standard found in Third District cases decided before the 1997 enactment of Section 61.121). The Father also assigned an error with respect to the trial court's factual finding that the Father did not prove sufficient facts to overcome the presumption against rotating custody (Amended Initial Brief of Appellant, Argument II, pages 36-38). Significantly, however, the Third District did not rule on this issue in the decision under review. The Court did not reach the issue because of its holding that there was no presumption to overcome:

It necessarily follows that a parent seeking rotating custody need not establish "exceptional circumstances" to overcome a presumption that no longer exists. The standard is simply the best interest of the child as set forth in section 61.13, Florida Statutes (2007).

Corey v. Corey, 29 So. 3d at 320.

For these reasons, this issue is neither ripe nor appropriate for review by this Court. Moreover, since Petitioner did not include the issue in her Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction; and the issue is not briefed in Petitioner's Initial Brief; and the issue is not dispositive of the case in this Court, the issue is not properly before the Court in this appeal.

This issue is moot if the Court affirms the Third District's holding that the standard for ordering rotating custody under Section 61.121 is

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